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Meredith House
LaGrange

Cambridge, Maryland PLC 114/366

This large Georgian house was built in the 1760's by John
Woolford on part of two tracts of land originally known as Ricarton
and Woolford's Regulation. In the nineteenth century this property
was one of several large farms east of the city ofCambridge and
fronting on the Choptank River. Rose Hill stood on the west of this
property, while Shoal Creek bordered on the east. The house remained
in the Woolford family until 1846, when the property was sold to
Elizabeth R. Muse. She sold the farm in 1860. Since that date the

land has changed hands several times. In 1956, the Dorchester County

Historical Society purchased thehouse and now uses it as its headquarters

and museum. The building retains much of its original eighteenth
century appearance, although a wing has been added to the house on the
southeast side. This is one of the few eighteenth century houses
still remaining in the city of Cambridge.

Sources:

Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, Maryland.

Land Records.

Research by:

Terrance P. Walbert

1976.
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— o Meredith Eouse or LaGrange€ is loczted at 004 LaGrenge AVENUE, approximately 125 vards
couth of the bank of the Choptank River, czmbridge, Dorchester County, Marvlend. Built
circa 1760 the house is one of the few re—zining Georgian houses 1n Czmbridge. 7Threc tays
~ide &nd two Ceep 1t measureés 2% stories in height. Laditions, notably sunporches &nd a
freme wing, Were sdded during the late nineteenth century.

The walls of the ~2in block are laid in Flermish bond. The house <its on a water téble,

i the first course of which 1s accentuated DY brick 1laid in all header bond. & thin belt

course, two bricks thick, seperates the first and second floors oOn +he front (south) and
~ear (north) facades. A simple carved Lrzcket cornice with returns crowns both these tac:
The bracket cornice, extending past tne nlane of the cide facade, also extends on the sic

i of the building along rhe roof line. A thin belt course is also l1ocated on the east &nd

1 west facades, stretching oVer each lintel irom oOne cornice return to the other.

Upper and lower windows &re aligned within +he walls. Although there arTe€ now 6-over-b6,
Jouble-hung sash windows 4 each window on the front znd rear facades, the interrupted
brickwork and thickness of surrounds end mullion -nd muntins suggest these are replacesen
of the twentieth century. cimilar chenges have occurred to the second storey and attic
windows on bpoth sides of the house. The recdimented 1intels which eppeal OL the first
floor, front facade window and 4OOQOTS, and on all windows on the east ana west facaces,
appear also to be twentieth century ~3ditions. These may have been used to coOverl holes
punched 1into the brickwork when TWwO large porches WeTe 2dded to the iront and rear iacade

during the late nineteenth century. -

Fntrances to the main block are located 1n +he second bay on both front and rear faczdes
Original doors and surrounds for hoth entrances have been removed. On the front, the
four-panel door 1s flanked by sidelights -nd covered with a threé-pane€ transom. Each
cidelight consi1sts of a 2-over-2 double hung «=sh window over a single pzneled base.
p=neled reveals encircle the doorway, which is set back from the plane of the sidelights
A modern store door has been placed over +he trensom and dooT. Two modern brick steps,
flznked by cast-iron hendrails, lead toO the doorway. On the rear facade, the interrupy:-e
brickwork indicates that cidelights like those seen On the iront were rexoved. iDe€
entrence door 1s now 3 multi-lighted twentieth century door, capped by a three-light tre
com. 1t too has a modern StOIM door, &nd 1S reached by two mOGEIN brick steps witnout

The gable roof 1is covered with dark =chestos sningles. Three rassive brick chimners Wit
~orbeled caps are placed at +he northeast, nortnwest and southeast COINEIS of the
<ctructure. All chimneyvs have COmDON bond brickwork. Their overall crispness, brick tex?
=nd uniformity, tooling of joint and shépe suggest they are alterations carried out Gur:
+rhe lzte nineteenth century. Two pedimented dOTmErS, aligned roughly overl the first an
third bays, are iocated on both tne ~north and south faczdes. Each E—-over—-56, double—-nun:
cash window is flanked DY simple Doric pilasSiers and capped DY a cornice and rervras.

fa

The cides of each dormer &are chezthed in modcern clepboard.

cee Continuation Sheet 1.
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The *zssment oi the house has been greatly altered. Access is gained by a winding
st=ir (twentieth century) and by steps located in the northeast corner leading to a
modern bulkhead on the curface. Joists appear to be replzcezents, based on evicence
of circular saw cuts and machine-cmade nalls.

In plan, the building cexhibits an altered configuration which has changed more then cnce

. from whsf was most probably the original Georgian central hzll, double pile configuration.

{ The present plan consists of four rooms (see floor plan) from the front door, omne

: enters a hall. Doors and windows are set off with late nineteenth century architrave
moléings and bulls-eye corner blocks. Fere, as in every other room 1m the wain block,
~odern wood floors have replaced the older, random width pine flooring. In the southeest
corner of the room, a stairway rises on two landings and the second floor. The open-
string steir exhibits simple brackets, tapering balusters, rounded handrail and bulbous
bezutifully turned mewel pcst ON SGQUETE L-ge. A door in the southesst corner of the

room lezds to a bathroom in the rwcenptieth century addition. A door under the staircese
= leads down a winding stailr to the besement below. Two entrances on the north wall lead
:nto the rear parlors. A door on the west leads into a smaller perlor room on the irent.

This front parlor also contains moldings identical to thcse found in the hallway. A

1ate nineteenth century mantel has Lz2n built into the southwest corner of the room.

What was originally a window on rhe west wall has been filled in with shelves and now
serves as a pbookcase.

A smaller parlor, now used as a dining Toom is located directly behind the entréance heall.
Jts plaster walls are painted grey. A cimple baseboard, painted white, continues

~round the roox and into the second parlor. windows have paneled revezls and finely
Jetailed architrave trim with corner bPlocks. A Victorian merT

chelf are located in the northeast corner of the room, embellished only by a floral
borcuet decoration centrally placed below the shelf.

4 pareled surround, also with identiczl moldings and cormer tlocks vsed in the above
parlor, leads into 2 second and larger parlor, now used as 3 living room. Moldings

=re identical to those in the first parlor. A ifireplace, cimilar in design to the
other, but with a flat polygonal decoration pelow the shelf, is located in the northwest
corner.

On the second floor, the floor plan ccnsists of a long hall that runs lengthwliS€E &CICSS
the front of the building. The Iirst TOOR, loczted in the northeast corner, SDOWS
extensive alterations, such as rwentieth century doors, built-in cshelves, etc. The
cecond room, located to the northwest, contains simpler late nineteenth century mOi1CInNgs
=2né znother Victorian mantel placed at a 45° angle 1in the far corner of the builéing. A
c—211 modern closet has been added in tne couthwest corner of this room and nall. A

doorwav on the west wall of the hell jezds into an garly twentieth century bathroocx.

Cee Continuation Sheet 2.
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From the second floor, the stzirvay 1leads to a lancing znd up a2 winding stair to
the attic. Here, rooms are all early twentieth century, uvsed only for storage.

Circa 1897, a twc-storey, gable-roofed, frzme zddition was built on the east side of the
house. It houses a kitchen remodeled in the 1900's on the first floor znd bedrooms zbove
It is clad with clapboard and has a central brick chimney.

On the northeast, the addition is three-bays wide and contains two levels of 6-over—6
: double-hung sash windows which zre modern replacements. On the southeast facade, the
tenestration is similar, with the addition of a small four-pane ezsement window which
lights a bzthroom. On its east facade, a modern kitchen window is placed to the left
of & modern door, reached by three-brick steps. A small window is centrally placed
in the second storey.

-pi"“‘i'.-l

Larly in the twentieth century, a sunporch and other porches were added to the north,
west and south facades of the main block. Between 1897 and 1958, the two major porches
-~ were removed. The frazme sunporch was retained and now serves as part of the
exhibition space in the museum. The porch is placed on a cinderblock foundation znd
topped by a2 shed roof. 7Its north and south facades are pierced by three, 2-over-2
double-hung sash windows. Its western facade has six windows identical to the zbove,
interspersed by carved verticle panels. Doric 3/4 columns mark the northwest &nd
southwest corners.

In 1958, a major renovation of the house took place, resulting in the creation of the
- L) a ' -, g oy - . g

caretaker 's quarters in the frame wing, sandblasting of the brick main block, and

refurbishing the interior rooms, including the addition of new wooden floors.

Inree outbuildings are located close to the main house. Ten feet from the northeast
corner of the wain block is a late nineteenth century dairy, with projecting hip roof,
now used as a storage area. An eighteenth century smokehouse, moved from another PrCeperty
in Cembridge, is loczted thirty feet from the northeast corner of the house. It is roted
for its 2" thick ozk boards placed horié%ntally and connected by dovetail joints and
pegglng and two verticle board doors. It is capped by a shingled hip roof with wooden
weathervane. Approximately 75 feet from the southeast corner of the house, a converted
twentieth century garage now serves as the farm museum. This building includes ferming

implements, and 1835 McCormick rezper zand a blacksmiths shop.
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circa 1760 {(gltereaqd) John woolford
STATENMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
SIGNIFICANCE

La Grange, now known as the Meredith RHouse, is important as one of only a few hcuces
of the Georgian period remaining in Cambridge. In a 1976 survey of the town four other
houses incorporating 18th century fsbric were jdentified =nd remain today. The exterior
of this house is, by far, the least altered. Significant recmaining exterior Georgian
characteristics include its Flemish bond brickwork with watertable; and five bay facade,
the most outstanding feature of which is the extremely tall corner chirney stacks, a
design feature found only rarely on the lower Fastern Shore of Maryland. DMore icportantly

though, this 18th century house 1is significant a2s an example of ahouse that has changed
through time, with century architectural sdditions, in and of themselves pleasing and
representative of thelate Victorian period. An 13th century structure on the property

s 2alco in excellent cendition znd is z rare survival of an important ancillary builcding

type irom that period.

ol e ¥

LaGrznge has also served as the home oi a number of prominent Czmbridge families
and its history is interturned with the development of Ceambridge and Dorchester County
from the 18th through the 20th centuries. It is perhaps fitting that the house now,
functiorns as the county's historical society, serving two purposes--its exterior
exhibiting the Gecrgian architecture fcrm now rare irn Cambricge, while its 1%8th
century interior serves as a splendid backdrop for the interpretation of remaining
pieces of this city and county's important heritage.

HISTORY

The land on which La Grange was constructed dates back to the 17th century. In
1699 the provincial government of Maryland granted land along the Choptank River,
three miles wide, extending from the present Cambridge city area to the Warwick River 1imn
Secretary, to the Choptank Indians to insure peace and eoodwill. In 1686, John Kirke,

whose plantation "Ricarton" serveé as a tobacco trading center until later establishment O

the port of Cambridge by Lord Baltimore in 1684, bought an criglinal tract of this lzand on
Shoal Creek, on which Meredith Bouse stands today, from one of the Indian chieis Ababco
for forty two matchcoats (a matchcoat is an outer garment wmade from a coarse, woolen
cloth). Xirke became prominent in the arez, in his sence a2s comnissioner for Lord
Bzltimore, collecting rents for his emplover. In 1684, the provisionzal government pur
one hundreé acres and lzid out lots on KHigh Street, wiicn later beccme the center of t
Kirke's political influence and weather grewvw as teflected in the constructiorn of Cembri
first bouse, "The Point", in 1709. Yhen he dies in 1733 the 435-acre tract of land

bovght from the Indians, passed to his caughter, Ann.

F |

SEE CONTINUATION SHUEET #3
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SIGN1FICANCE, continued

John Woolford purchased part ~f this tract, renzmed "Phillips Discovery, irIom
tnn and her husband, James Phillips, in 1745 for 340 pounds. Dbeiweel 1760 and
1773, land end probate records indicate that John Woolford improved the 378 acrTe

tract with the constructlon of a dwelling house of brick , later tO be patented

"Woolford's Regulation".

Woolford's importance tO czmbridge's development i reflected in his holdings &t
the time of his death 1n 1773. iis NURETOUS 1and holdings and pcssessions WwWerle
cufficient to leave each ~f his seven children cizeable tracts of land, cash and
<laves. Although there 1s noO 1nown inventory of hils estate, probably due toO the
Revolutionary War in progress, hich distupted record keeping, Woolford's will gives
some insight into his wealth. It was his son Willism who inberited +he home plantetion,
Lut the will stipulated his only daughter, Mary, could ]
my dwelling house below the stairs and the little Toom &boVve +he stzirs, 21so0 the use
of that field at the he¢ad ~f the Creek...also the privilege of pastuIle {or two OT
three horses and cows' ™ until she narried. Mary was also left a silver creail pot,
mug and several spoons. A1l the children were left slaves &nd mODEY in the form of
Spanish dollars. 1In subsequent inventories ot Woolford's children, 12nd, slaves,
money and livestock figured significantly, sndicating his family —-intained prcsperity
and prestige in the cormunity. rlizabeth Muse bought the property 1in 1846 from the
“loolford femily and called it LaGrange, meaning "+he home of the gentleman fzrmer’ &nd
pcssibly after the Marquis de Lafayette's home in France. BHer hesband, Dr. Williem
J. Muse, from &n eminent Maryland family, practiced mecicene in Dorchester County
~ost of his adult life. He was 3 descencant of the noted Tnrnzls clan, who boested
such notable kKinsmen as Sophia Kerr =nd 2 United States senator, +he honcrable Jonn
Leeds Rerr. bBesides beilng 1and developers, the Muse family were leaders in agriculituT
~ethods and scientific farming technigues. Dr. Jcseph tnnalls Muse (1776-1852) weas
one of the founders of the Dorchester County Apricultural Society (1824). The {&a=ily
performed numerous experiments with new crop growth. £1thouech wheat and coOTm T&ad
replaced tobaccO as a cash crop, 1TS continual use had seriously deamaged the cuality oi
+he soil. With their work 1n fortilizer use and crop change, the Muser family reversec
+he disastrous decline of Maryland farming prior to the Civil kar.

A later owner was A. Eamilton Bayly, erandson of Josiah Bavly, attorney for the
notoriovus slave kidnapper Patty (annon, =nd the first Attorney Ceneral of Marvlena
At this point in the nineteenth century, Labrange w2Ss ODE of several preminent wat
front farms in Cembridge. tppleby, the nhome of Thomas Holligcay Yicks, Civil tar
governor irom Dorchester County, was probably themost majestic of these homes, while
rwo other farms, Shoal Creek -nd Rose Hill, bordered LaGrange in the east&ld cector of
the city.

eT

STE CONTINUATION SEEET #4.
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SICNIFICANCE, continued

~ow comprised of some forty acres, LaGrange chanced owners four more times
before John Foward Hirst purchesed it in 1897. Ten years earlier, Hearst and his
amlly bouth the adjoining property of William Wilson Bvrn's "Rose Hill." Eirst =nd

his father were New Yorkers and regarded as pioneers in truck terming with

their property Jamaica FPoint on Long Island. Yere on the south shore of the Cheptank
River they ifound undeveloped land ideal for their method of farming. Byrn had broken
the way with the introduction of Southdown sheep and Aldernay cattle, and improved

£

harvests of corn. 1In 1897, with the planting of fruit orchards, the expansion of field
end the construction of packing houses, LaGrznge was purchased by Eirst, adding 41 acre

to the 115 he already farmed. : ! . - .
- ST TP 7 A A i~ pey < SV e TAeTuvh S (a2t T -
f-“_':"." L]l:'-‘l"' LI gt T - ST ‘:!._- IR ~e ot - \ \‘ ‘} - pl SN W oy -
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7+ actlve 1n cormunity, business and governmental affairs, Smith served as Register
of Wills in Dorchester County for forty-eight vears. Ee resigned when Franklin D.
Rocsevelt appointed him Collector of Customs for the Port of Baltimore. Sometime
during his thirty vears of residence at LaGrange, Smith added a sunporch to the
northwest part of the house znd removed two exterior porches.

— —

In 1958 the Dorchester County Fistorical Society purchkased LaGrange, which had
shrunk in size to cone acre of land. IT was rernsced in 1960 Meredith House in memory
of Thomas H. and Joseph B. Meredith when the latter's grandson, Thomas S. Nichols,
aided the society in purchasing the house and an 2dditional half acre of property.
Several years later a major renovation was undertaken, resulting in the creation
of the caretaker's quarters in the frame wing, sandblasting the brick section,
removing earlier added white paint and refurbishing of the interior rooms.

rleredith Fouse is used today by the socliety for meetings znd is open to the public
on 2 limited basis. The first floor rooms are furnished much as they would be in the
middle nineteenth century, withlocal collections of antigues, china, clothing &and
plctures adding & touch of Dorchester histery. Scrapbooks, files on local family
histories and cdocuments on Mzrvland and Dorchester history comprise the sunporch
library, although much of this material has been moved to the local library for
the convenience of the public. The first bedroon upstairs contains maritime artifacts,

including ships' models, tools of a ship's carpenter and apparatus used by watermen.

Pictures and some personal possessions of the seven Dorchester County men who served

as Mearyland governors are housed in a second bedroom, known as the "Governor's Roorm."

Ouitside, a2 smokehouse contzins a small collection of household items. 1t was

built in the eighteenth century znd moved from another Cambridge city property. A farm
museum, oOnceé & gerage probably built by Smith, contains farming implements, including

an 1835 McCormick reaper. Another small structure on the property was probably uvsed
as a ceiry houvse in earlier times.

.

IWill of John Wooliford, 1773. 39/359, Dorchester County. Probate records

in Annapolis Ball of Records.

s T - ——
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FHIGEOGRAPHICAL DATA
ACFREAGE OF NC'INATED FROPERTY 1’s acres
OUADRANGLE NAME Cembridge CATRANGLE scaLe 1:24000
UTW REFEFENCES
A[L&] Lalmz'ﬂmd L!.J_.?l_-fzr__f?]ﬁnsgj Bl ! l l | l !JJ | ] | ! 'J
ZONE EASTING NORTHING ZONE EASTING NORTHING
CLIIIJLlleIl_l__1|-|' DI!]IIJ"'JLI'L-JJJ.J
] E[JJ'I!JII__,.L'JJ]J___I, FlJlu_J_[_.L_J__IlllllilJ
GLJ][I"LJJ""l_'_.'_J Hll_’ll!L!JJlJlleJ_J
VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION As yecorded ir Dor. County Courthouse: Liber 114/Folio 366.
; LaGrange is located on 1) acres in Cambridge bounded by LaGrange Street (W) and
3 Maryland Avenue Extended (NE), connected by a straight line running from the eastern
E-]

terminus of Marvland Avenue Extended to the Corner of LaGrenge STreet.
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CONDITION
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La Grange or the lMeredith House, as it 1is known
today 1is a typically symmetrical 8eorgian house of
brick laid in Flemnisii Bond., ~dded to the original
part of the house are a one story frame addition on
the west side and a two story, three bay frame
addition on the east side. There are two gabled
dormers with six over six sash windows on the front
and rear of the gabled roof. 7he cornice is orna-
mented:. by a series of csrved brackets, 2&n unusual
feature of this house are the four ciiimneys, one at
each corner of tie oldest portion., There are tnree
bays on the front of the house, and the shutterless
windows are six over six sash,. Between the first and
second stories 1s a beltcourse of raised brick.
s+ round the bottom of the house is a molded water

table of raisecd brick,

Cn the ¢grounds 1s & Farm !useum containing manv
objects used 1in farming in the earlier days of this
country, 1including an 1835 reaper, one of the first
built by lcCecrmick. & smokehouse moved here dates
to the 1700's and 1s built of two inch oak boards
put together at the corners witn peags and dovetailing.
Exhibited in the smokehouse are old household items

and utensils,

The house 1tself contains many anticues and items
of historical interest, On tiie second floor 1is a
Governor's Room, honoring the six lKarvland Governors
elected from Dorchester: John Henry, Charles Golds-
borough, Thomas Holliday Hicks, Henry Lloyd, Phillins
| Lee Goldsborough and Emerson C, Harrington and a

seventh, Thomas King Carroll, who moved to Dorchester

after his term of office.
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Pre-Columbion 16th Century %1 18th Century 20th Century
15th Clnfury 17 th Cinfury 19th C.nfury

SPECIFIC DATE(S) (1f Applicable and Known) Around I 760=1770

| AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Check One or More ae Appropriate)
Abor iginol E ducation Politicol Urban Planning
Prehistoric Engineering Religion/Phi. Other (Specity)
! Historic Industry losophy
] Agriculture 1 Invention (] Science
X Architecture ] Londscope ] Sculpture 4 - J____...
Art Architecture ] Sociel/Humon- _— _-____._
Commerce Literoture itarian
Communicotions —] Militory Theoter ___.___:_:
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

distorv:

John Kirk, an extensive land oOwner and Indian fighter,
was the first white owner of this land whicn he purchased
from the Indians in 1684, The property was called Ricarton
at that time. In 1697, John Kirk gave his brother william
120 acres of this land., Next it came 1into the possession
| of James and Ann Phillips. (&ann was the eldest surviving _
daughter of John Kirk.) ©On March 4, 1760, James Phillips
-nd Ann sold to John iloolford all that part of a tract of

land on the Great Choptank River formerly called Ricarton,
but now called Phillip's Recovery. The Woolfords were a
prominent family in the county, taking an active part 1in
the social, political and military affairs. The proverty
was next owned by John VWoolford's son, John, and was
known as Woolford's Regulation. John Woolford sold thne
property to Elizabeth R. Muse, the wife of Dr. iiilliam I,
Muse., The Muse family were descendants of the Ennalls
clan. Dr. Muse sold the propert,, now called La Grange
to John L. Wrightson in 1864 and in 1871 Wrightson sold
the property to Mr. . Lamilton Bayly. (lMr., Bayly was

a grandson of thne Hon. Josiah Bayly.) The property
changed hands several times after thet. The building of
brick was built between 1760 znd 1770, presumably by the
loolfords.

Siqnificance:

This house 1s significan .25 one of tihe few surviving
houses in Canmbridge that date to tae Revolutionary War
Period. It is a good example of Georgian architecture

and has been relatively unaltered except for the frame
additions,
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A Day 1in Dorchester,

F. Aarthur Lascowskli, Papers

1971, Dorchester County
Historical Society
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